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PRELIMINARY EUMMARY OF ARCHAEOLOGICAL
INVESTIGATIONS [N THE SOUTH BARRACKS,
FORT WASHITA, BRYAN COUNTY, GHLAHOMA

By Don G, Wyckoff end Towana Spivey
INTRODUCTION

The [ollowing pages present an initia] summocy of
in 1971 at the South
Barracks building of Fort Washita, Bryan County, Qklahoma,
A detailed study of the work and ils findings is presently
underway, and a thorough presentation of what was done
and what was found will be forthcoming. In lieu of the final
eport, this brief synopsis has been prepared so that the
overall results of the work are now available,
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dirt and rocks with everything Erom & brush to a shovel.
THE 1371 [INVESTIGATIONS AND THEIR OBJECTIVES

The site of old Fort Weshita is now owned by the
Oklshoma Historical Society. In an effort to enhance the
interpretive presentation of the site. the Society has planned
ta restors some of the original buildings. The first structure
considered for such restoration is the stone barracks which
forms the south end of the parade ground. By general
consensus this structurs has been designated as the South
Barracks.

Much of the South Barracks wss still standing in the eatly
1900%, and subsequent to the Society's owherhip of the
fort, the rack walls of the first story were rebuilt. However,
ptiot to ahy complete restoration, it was obvious that many
details pertaining to the siructure and its architecture were
lacking. Some such details could be obtained from a careful
study of existing military and civian documents which
describe the fort and its operation. Such documents are
available and have been utilized with appreciable results, but
there was also a need for the controlled field excavations
which could reveal potentially important information i situ
to supplement that data gleaned from the written documents.
On the basis of both pertinent documents and archaetlogical

could loped for any

eventual restoration of the huﬂdmgA

Fersonnel of the Oklzhoma Historical Society and the
Ollahoma Archaeclogical Survey visited Fort Washita and
inspected the South Barracks. Subsequent consultations
between these persons resulted in the agreement that
excavations wers feasible and cowld result in some
information potentially significant for the eventual
reconstruction of this building. Ata meeting held on April 7,
1871, Mr. Elmer Fraker {Administzative Sectetary of the
Historical Society ), Mrs, Martha Blaine (Chief Curator of the
Historical Society}, Mr. Don Wyckoff (State Archacologist of
the Univenity of Oklahoma), and Mr, Towana Spivey (a
student archaeologist) sgreed bo eooperate in undertaking
such work, The main objectives for archasological
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excavations of the South Berracks were twofold: 1) exposire
of zny details pertinent to an architectural reconstruction of
the building; 2) exposute and recovery of any artifacts
pertinent. to the 19th cenbury usage of the building and the
babitatian of the fart.

Excevations of the South Barracks began on April 12,
1971, mnd continued for Four weeks. The excavati
procedure included establisnment of horizontal grids
composed of fivefoot squares and the excavabion of the
squares with trowels and shovels. The fil dirt was usually
sereened when it was possible to associale fill with 2 content
relating o the 19th century usage of this building. Materials
found in each square wers placed in laheled sacks; these
materials are now being cleaned and catalogued and will be
analyzed and reported upon in the final repott. The
exravations wers condusted on both interior and extérior
areas of the building, and @ number of [eatures were found. &
detailed map of the building was made (Fig. la), and all
associated architectural features exposed by the figld work
have been incorparated into this map.

FiNoiNGs OF TeE 1971
EXCAYATIONS IN THE SOUTH BARRACHS
Resultz of the 1971 archaeclogical investigations ere
listed and briefly discussed below. In most instances, the
respective discussions are related to a photogragh taken of
the particular archilactural feature as it was exposed.

Genaral Statement

It can be confirmed that the South Barmacks building is
the siructure buill in 1849 for infantry quartes. The
excavations sxposed a sufficient number of features ta
indicate an extremely close correlation between the map of
the existing structure (Fig, Ia) and a plan for “New Infantry
Quarters at Fort Washita, N found in the National
Archives in Washinglon, D.C. The plans called for 2 long,
reclangular building of two stories (first of stone and second
of wooden frame). The fitst story was Lo be composed of two
large reclangular reoms (kitcken-mess rooms) separated by 2
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partition in which a double fireplace acalis. At each end of
this first story were (o be small, rectangular roct-house
roors. Surrounding this fitst story was to occur a portica
with pillars 4o suppers & freme portico awociated with the
woaden second story. The dimensions of the existing
structure are ot sxactly compatable 16 those on the plang;
the existing strocture & shorter and more nurrow. But, in
terms of number of Tooms, their sequencs, and other
associated Teatures, the existing South Barracks computes
quite favorably to the plans. The minor discrepancies In tize
suggest the plans were altered to suit the space situation and
needs at Fort Waghita, There are ho other visible structures af,
the Zort which compare in outline and room sequence to the
plans from the natlonal Archives.

General Construction Datalls

. “The structure was builk on 3 southwest, facing slope of a
bill with the structure [tsalf being oriented east-wast (Fig.
2a). Ta campencale for the slope, a treach (Fig. 2b) wis
dug I'ur the foundation and a one 1o two-nch layer of

was poured in which to lay the first run of
roundmon stones. There was apparently some concem
about maisture collecting at the southwest ([lowest)
comer of the building. so a drain hole was chipped inte
one of the tocks in the first run of the foundation (Fig.
2c). Because of (he slope. the walls at the west end had 15
be much higher than at the sast end (Fig. 1b), and to
comrect the sloping natural foor, the entire interior wis
backhilled with dirt and gravel. This fill was capped with
some 1214 inches of packed, red clay which formed the
floar. Befote this Aoor was laid, the interior partition In
the mess room arez was built and the interior walls were
apparently plastered.

2 to the ion af the main structure’
walls, the portico was added. A sories of rock-mortar
pillars were built at tegularly spacecl intervols some 8 feel
outside the structure {Fig. la and 2d). Then the
intervening space between these pillars was rocked in-
Finally, the space between the porlico wall and the
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sbructure wall was backfilled with dirk and gavel (Fig.
2b).

Inlerior Construction Details

The toot cellar wolls were buili at the same time as the
structure’s exterior walls, The west root cellar has &
stepped offiet slory the esst wall; this fenure iz
suggsstive of the presence of a low loft.

The kitchen-mess rooms were of comparable size and
were separated by a low rock partition which also
incorporated & double fireplace {Fig. 3a). This partition
wall apparently projectsd only a slight distance above the
floor and was pzobably the base for a wooden wall
between the rooms (Fig. 3a). Doorways in this partition
were not diseerned by the excavations, and it is possible
the mess rooms were closed olf (ram each other.

The double fireplace in the interior partition was the only
open fireplace in the structure,

Rock pillar bases on mortar beses were found at regular
intervals rurming down the center of the building (Figs. I
and 3b). These bases supported pillars, probably wooden,
which braced the joist of the second flaor. The sequence
and spacing of these pillars was bast sxposed in the west
meseroom (see Fig. lay; those in the east Toom were
largely destroyed by 20th century usage of this structure
a5 @ bam.

A probable oven location, demarked by = martared area
and baked clay, was exposed in the northwest pari. of the
east mess-zoom (Figs. l& and 3d). This location measured
some 5 feet in length and 215 feet in width

Exterior Congiruction Delails

The portico apparently did surousd the scructure
except, perhaps, at Lhe east end. Fillars Gid occur at the
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eqst end but only on a generzl alignment. with the north
and south portico walls and not across the east end.

Ll

The porlics was construcled by building rock-mortar
pillats eveey 10-15 Feet apart (Figs. 2d and 4b). A rock
wall was then built 1o connect these pillars. Subsequently
the space between the portios wall and the structure wail
was backfilled with dirt and gravel,

=

Trenches were dug out from each of the four doorways in
an atempt 1 lozate the bases for the stairways to the
second floor. Such slaircase lundings were exposed at &
point 10 fest out fram the portice wall out from the
northwest and southwest doorways (Fig. la). These
landings were simall rectangular aveas of mortar and rock,
(Fig. 4z). The existence of such landings out from the
nartheast. and southeast doprs 15 suspected though the
excavations [ailed to revesl their exact location.

L

A trench excavated oif the northwest comer of the
steucture revealed the presence of a tack retsining wall
{Fig. 4c). This [euture is o significance bacause historical
records tell of problems with venoff eroding the
foundation of the barracks.

L

Segments of a eobble pavement were exposed entending
south [rom the center point of the south portico wall. A
few rocks mortarsd ints the portico wall are suggestive of
steps built at this point (Fig. 4a).

Recovered Artifacts

Quite & variety of metal, china, and glass artifacts were
vecovered during the excavations. Sothe of thess relats to the
20th century usage of ructure as & stable. Othess relate
to the 13th century utilization of the fort. Among the latier
are military buttons, musket balls, percussion caps, sections
of shovels used in digging the structure location, and squate
nails, The only coin found was a 1911 Liberly nickel. Al
artifacts are now being clasned and prapared for analysis in
the final repoart.
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General Commen{s Regarding Restoration

Exposure of the foundation walls on their interior (see
Fig. Ia) revealed = few large cracks. The stabillty of these
walls should be insured prior to any reconstriction

Interior features, including partition wall, double
fireplace, and rock bases for interior supports, are
steuctural features which should be accounted for in any
accurate reconstruction,

The exterior portico is generally in good shape. Some
joints will need repcinting and & slight amount. of wall
reconstruction will be needed to maintain the authentic
appeatance of this structure.

Little dala was recovered pertaining to the nature of the
second story, Interior support post bases and the portico
pillars_attest to its presence. The reconstruction of the
second story will bave to depend heavily on available
documentary evidence.



